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INTRODUCTION 
 
A hearing was held on September 4, 2024, October 15, 16, 17, 2024, November 18 and 20, 
2024, and January 22, 23, 24, 2025 via Microsoft Teams videoconferencing and in-person by the 
Hearing Tribunal of the College of Registered Nurses of Alberta (the “College”) to hear a 
complaint against Chantel Nygaard, R.N. registration #109,372. The Hearing Tribunal met for 
deliberations on January 24, February 27 and March 5, 2025. 
 
Those present at the hearing were: 
 

a. Hearing Tribunal Members:   

  
Kimberly Boyko, RN Chairperson 

Bonnie Bazlik, RN 
Vince Paniak, Public Member 
Andrew Otway, Public member 

  
b. Independent Legal Counsel to the Hearing Tribunal: 

  
Julie Gagnon 

  
c. CRNA Counsel: 

James Hart, Conduct Counsel 
  

d. Registrant Under Investigation: 

  
Chantel Nygaard (sometimes hereinafter referred to as “the Registrant”) 

  
e. Registrants’ Labour Relations Officer: 

  
Silvie Montier 

  
f. CRNA Staff: 

  

Marina Skoreiko, Hearings Coordinator as Clerk supporting Chair of the Tribunal in 

procedural management of virtual proceeding technology. 

g. Additional Participants: 
 

Ms. Kelsey Kern 
Kelly Cochrane, Court Reporter 

 
 
PRELIMINARY MATTERS  
 
Preliminary Application in Advance of the Hearing 
 
In advance of the hearing, a preliminary application to join two hearings into one hearing was 
made by the Labour Relations Officer for the Registrant’s Ms. Kern and Ms. Nygaard (the “LRO”). 
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a. Joinder 

 
The application made to the Hearing Tribunal, in advance of the hearing, was an application to 
have the two separate hearings scheduled for Ms. Kern and Ms. Nygaard (together referred to as 
the “Registrants”) joined together. The Registrants made the application, which was opposed by 
Conduct Counsel.  
 
The joinder was requested by the Registrants on the basis that the Allegations for both Registrants 
were stemming from the same incident, and therefore the Hearing Tribunal would be able to 
consider the conduct of both Ms. Kern and Ms. Nygaard in one hearing, rather than having the 
same facts repeated in two separate hearings. The LRO submitted that a joinder was the most 
efficient and expeditious way to proceed. Conduct Counsel opposed the application. 
 
As the master of its process, the Hearing Tribunal has the discretion to hear the two matters 
jointly. In this instance, although the actions and roles of Ms. Kern and Ms. Nygaard differed, the 
incidents in question involved the same parties, the same patient, the same location during the 
same time period, and arose out of the same occurrence or series of occurrences. 
 
After considering the submissions of the parties, the Hearing Tribunal granted the joinder request, 
confirming to all parties that the hearing would take place starting on October 15, 16, 17 & 18, 
2024, and would cover the Allegations against both Ms. Kern and Ms. Nygaard. The Hearing 
Tribunal advised the parties that in its view, although the hearings would be joined, there would 
be two separate decisions issued, one for Ms. Nygaard and one for Ms. Kern. The parties agreed 
with this approach.  
 
As such, this decision will only be related to the Allegations of unprofessional conduct for Ms. 
Nygaard. 
 

b. Preliminary matters during hearing  
 
Conduct Counsel and the LRO confirmed that there were no objections to the composition of the 
Hearing Tribunal or to the Hearing Tribunal’s jurisdiction to proceed with the hearing. No 
preliminary applications were made. 
 
The Chairperson noted that pursuant to section 78 of the Health Professions Act, RSA 2000, c. 
H-7 (“HPA”), the hearing was open to the public. No application was made to close the hearing. 
Members of the public were present at various times during the hearing. 
 
ALLEGATIONS  
 
At the beginning of the hearing, Conduct Counsel advised that Allegation 1(f) for Ms. Nygaard 
was being withdrawn by the Complaints Director. 
 
The allegations in the Notice to Attend a Hearing related to Ms. Nygaard are as follows 
(“Allegations”):  
 

1. On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant demonstrated a lack of knowledge, 

skill and/or judgment when they did one or more of the following: 

a. Failed to recognize fetal and/or maternal distress on one (1) or more occasion; 
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b. Failed to read an electronic fetal monitoring strip accurately on one (1) or more 

occasion;  

 
c. Failed to confirm or consult with a physician on atypical and/or abnormal findings 

on the electronic fetal monitoring strip on one (1) or more occasion; 

 
d. Failed to palpate the maternal pulse and/or adequately palpate the maternal 

pulse on one (1) or more occasion;  

 
e. Failed to physically listen to the fetal heart rate to aid in the interpretation of an 

electronic fetal monitor strip on one (1) or more occasion; and 

 
f. [Withdrawn] Failed to recognize that there were no contractions on one (1) or 

more occasion.  

 
2. On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant displayed a lack of skill and/or 

judgment when they failed to adequately and/or accurately document atypical and/or 

abnormal findings in the labour and birth record and/or multidisciplinary notes on one (1) 

or more occasion. 

It is further alleged that the Registrant’s conduct constitutes “unprofessional conduct”, as 
defined in section 1(1)(pp)(i),(ii), and/or (xii) of the Health Professions Act, R.S.A. 2000, c. 
H-7 (the “HPA”), including: 
 
The conduct underlying Allegations 1 and 2 contravenes one (1) or more of the following: 
the Canadian Nurses Association (CNA) Code of Ethics (“CNACE”); the CARNA’s Practice 
Standards for Regulated Members (2013) (“CPSRM”) and the CARNA’s Documentation 
Standards for Regulated Members (2013) (“CDSRM”). 
 

 
EVIDENCE 
 
The following documents were entered as Exhibits:  

Exhibit #1 – Agreed book of exhibits  

Tab A: Nygaard Complaint dated March 27, 2023 
Tab B:  Kern Complaint dated March 27, 2023 
Tab C: Nygaard Notice to Attend April 18, 2024 
Tab D: Nygaard Notice to Attend April 22, 2024 
Tab E: Nygaard Notice to Attend September 18, 2024 
Tab F: Kern Notice to Attend May 28, 2024 
Tab G: Kern Notice to Attend September 18, 2024 
Tab H: Resume of Nygaard 
Tab I: Ongoing education for Nygaard 
Tab J: Resume of Kern 
Tab K: Ongoing education for Kern 
Tab L: Patient Health Records 
Tab M: Electronic Fetal Monitoring Strips 
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Tab N: Practice Support Document 
Tab O: Operative Report 
Tab P: Infants Health Records 
Tab: Q: Case Review  
Tab R: Practice Standards 
Tab S: Code of Ethics 
Tab T: Documentation Standards 
Tab U: Tolac Policy 

Exhibit #2 – Nygaard CRNA Complaint 

Exhibit #3 – Kern CRNA Complaint 

Exhibit #4 – Philips Avalon Monitor Manual 
 
 
HEARING APPLICATIONS 
 
Objection by the LRO 
 
Following the entering of Exhibit 1, the LRO advised that she objected to the labelling of Exhibit 
1, Tabs A and B. She noted it was not a complaint, it was an inquiry. It does not say who is being 
complained against. The LRO further objected that there was no complaint in the Agreed Exhibit 
Book. She asked for the matter to be dismissed on the basis that there was no complaint.  
 
Conduct Counsel noted that there were more fulsome complaints made on April 5, 2023, against 
both Registrants. He proposed to submit them into evidence at that time or through his first 
witness,   
 
The LRO maintained her objection that there was no complaint. She stated that the complaint 
was required to be before the Hearing Tribunal at the outset and that the Hearing Tribunal could 
not hear from a witness where a complaint did not exist. 
 
Independent legal counsel for the Hearing Tribunal noted on the record that there is no 
requirement in the HPA that the complaint be before the Hearing Tribunal at the outset of the 
hearing. She noted it was not unusual to start the hearing, call witnesses and put exhibits, 
including a complaint letter into evidence, through a witness, including where there was no Agreed 
Exhibit Book. 
 
The LRO indicated that the witness cannot give evidence to prove an allegation if there is no 
allegation. A Hearing Tribunal cannot listen to testimony of a witness if they do not know what the 
complaint is about. She stated there was no allegation in the letter. No case law was provided to 
support this position.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal adjourned in-camera and reconvened to advise of its decision. The Hearing 
Tribunal found that the documents at Exhibit 1, Tabs A and B met the requirements for a complaint 
under section 54 of the HPA. The letter at Tab A is a letter from patient  and lists the Registrant 
Chantel Nygaard, the date of the incident and describes the concerns.  asks whether the 
standard of care was met. Similarly, the letter at Tab B is a letter from patient  and lists the 
Registrant Kelsey Kern, the date of the incident and describes the concerns.  asks whether 
the standard of care was met. 
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In addition, the Hearing Tribunal held that further exhibits could be introduced through witnesses. 
The Hearing Tribunal did not agree with the LRO that a complaint must be placed before the 
Hearing Tribunal before the Hearing Tribunal starts to hear witness evidence. The process is that 
a Notice of Hearing will be entered at the outset of the hearing. This is the document that lists the 
allegations that are before the Hearing Tribunal. After this, the Complaints Director bears the onus 
of proving the case, by calling witnesses and entering exhibits, which can include the complaint. 
The letter of complaint does not list the allegations. That is done in the Notice of Hearing. There 
was no authority or case law provided by the LRO to support the position she was advancing. 
The Hearing Tribunal determined that it would continue with the hearing and if the LRO wished to 
pursue this issue further, she could do so in closing submissions.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal reconvened and advised the parties of its decision. The Chair advised that, 
if the LRO wished to pursue the issue of jurisdiction of the Hearing Tribunal, she could further 
address this in her closing submissions.   
 
Moving the Hearing to an In-Person Hearing: 
 
During the course of the October hearing dates, several technology problems occurred. Several 
breaks were taken to ensure that the Registrants, the LRO and witnesses could see and hear the 
proceedings and had access to the documents or were able to see documents being shown on 
the screen. 
 
However, to ensure the hearing proceeded smoothly, it was determined on October 17, 2024, 
that the proceedings would be held as a hybrid hearing moving forward, with the Hearing Tribunal, 
independent legal counsel, Conduct Counsel and the LRO present at the CRNA offices. Given 
that the Registrants lived outside of Edmonton, they were provided the option to attend virtually 
so long as they had appropriate connectivity. Public observers were also permitted to attend 
virtually or in-person. Ms. Nygaard attended in-person for her testimony on January 22, 2025, and 
Ms. Kern attended in-person for her testimony on January 23, 2025. 
 
Witnesses: 
 
The following individuals were called as witnesses: 
 

 complainant  
Angela Curran 
Dr. Cheyanne Vetter 
Dr. Werner DeVos 

 spouse of  
Dianne Mailloux 
Chantel Nygaard 
Kelsey Kern 

 
The following is a summary of the evidence given by each witness: 
 

 
 

 is a Licensed Practical Nurse  (the 
“Facility”) .  She was 
admitted to the Facility on September 20, 2022. She was scheduled to have delivery induced. 
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She had previously had a cesarean section (“C-section”) in 2019.  testified that she was 
hooked up on the electronic fetal monitor and had a Foley induction started at approximately 
1900h on September 20, 2022. 
 

 was treated by both Ms. Nygaard and Ms. Kern while at the Facility.  only interaction with 
Ms. Nygaard was during  labour and delivery on September 21, 2022.  had previously 
worked with Ms. Kern at the Facility. She identified her complaints against each of Ms. Nygaard 
and Ms. Kern and these were marked as Exhibits 2 and 3, respectively. 
 

 first interaction with Ms. Nygaard was at approximately 0700h on September 21, 2022, in 
her labour and delivery room. Her last encounter with Ms. Nygaard was at approximately 1900h 
on September 21.  found Ms. Nygaard to be quiet. She came into the room, introduced herself 
to  and for the majority of the time remained at her desk next to the bed, charting throughout 
her shift. 
 

 testified that she laboured throughout the day and at approximately 1630, she began pushing 
and with the first push, she was screaming and was complaining of a “band ripping” or “snapping” 
across her abdomen. Ms. Nygaard kept getting her to push and  complained of pain.  
 

 testified that from there, she was extremely exhausted and going in and out of consciousness. 
Ms. Nygaard was checking to see if  contractions were continuing.  stated that she did not 
recall exactly what time it was noted that the contractions stopped. Ms. Nygaard was at one point 
manually palpating for contractions and asking  husband to give her apple juice. 
 

 could not recall observing Ms. Nygaard looking at the electronic fetal monitoring strips but 
believes she did, as this was her responsibility at the time.  
 

 first encountered Ms. Kern at her bedside at approximately 1900h, in her labour and delivery 
room.  baby was ultimately stillborn via C-section at 2111 on September 21 after a confirmed 
uterine rupture.  
 

 stated that post-delivery, Ms. Kern had conversations with her regarding the stillbirth protocol. 
Ms. Kern told them that they had a right to an autopsy but that the physician strongly 
recommended against it. 
 

 requested her chart in March 2023. In reviewing the chart, she noticed that the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip was extremely abnormal.  
 
In cross-examination,  confirmed that another nurse also looked after her during Ms. Nygaard’s 
lunch hour. That nurse sat bedside and monitored the electronic fetal monitoring strips.  
 

 indicated that her concerns included that there was no attempt at intrauterine resuscitation, 
manually auscultating for her pulse, she does not know if a physician was consulted about the 
abnormal electronic fetal monitoring strips and her specific symptoms, there was no urgency or 
trying to push her into getting a C-section as  was not presenting as a patient in a normal labour 
and delivery situation. She noted there was no differentiating between her pulse and the fetal 
pulse as they were being charted the exact same on the electronic fetal monitoring strip. She 
noted that no scalp electrode was placed on the fetal scalp to pick up the fetal heart rate. While 
that is the responsibility of the physician to place, a nurse should advocate to the physician if there 
is a concern with the electronic fetal monitoring strip.  only recalled that Ms. Nygaard palpated 
her abdomen for contractions, not her pulse. 
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 reviewed the electronic fetal monitoring strips, which she believed showed abnormalities like 

identical fetal and maternal heart rates, questioning if they were actually capturing the fetal heart 
rate accurately. However, she acknowledged limitations in her ability to interpret the full strips. 
 

 stated that while there was a discussion with Dr. Vetter regarding a vaginal delivery attempt 
initially, whether the delivery was by C-section or vaginal, did not weigh heavily for her either way. 
She stated that she asked for a C-section and was told no, it was too high-risk. It was not until 
2050h that the physician called for a C-section due to the fetal heart rate not being picked up.  
also stated that prior to Dr. Vetter going to lunch, she was slowly progressing and Dr. Vetter said 
they would see how she progressed during that period. When Dr. Vetter came back,  had 
dilated some more and so Dr. Vetter let her continue to labour.  testified she asked for a C-
section when she felt the band ripping or snapping.  
 

 felt that Ms. Nygaard failed to advocate for an expedited C-section.  described that she 
went in and out of consciousness during labour and does not recall Ms. Nygaard's full actions.  
confirmed that Dr. Vetter was in the room when she screamed about the band ripping.  
 

 stated that she only clearly remembers Ms. Kern coming to the bedside.  did not recall 
exactly what she did between that time and when she went to move the tocodynamometers 
(“TOCO”) on her abdomen as she realized there was an appropriate heart rate being picked up. 
 
In terms of her memory,  stated she remembers things happening, but not exactly when they 
happened. She noted that from when she asked for the C-section onwards, the events are all 
“mushed” together. 
 
Angela Curran 
 
Angela Curran, a Registered Nurse and fetal health surveillance instructor, has over 20 years of 
experience in obstetrics, including working as a rural obstetrical practice lead and clinical nurse 
educator. She has taken numerous courses related to fetal health surveillance, obstetrical triage 
acuity scales, and managing obstetric risks effectively. Ms. Curran has taught fetal health 
surveillance for six years and noted she taught Ms. Kern and likely Ms. Nygaard as well. 
 
Ms. Curran was asked to review the electronic fetal monitoring strips and documentation from the 
case as part of a chart review for an adverse outcome and to do an educational review for the 
Facility. She reviewed the entire chart of the mother and newborn, including the partogram (labor 
and delivery documentation) and electronic fetal monitoring strips.  
 
Ms. Curran noted that her review was to do with the timeline rather than looking at specific nursing 
practice or performance. Ms. Curran used the Alberta classification system that is put out by the 
Maternal Newborn and Child Strategic Clinical Network. She identified the Practice Support 
Document (Exhibit 1, Tab N) which assists in interpreting electronic fetal monitoring tracings which 
notes parameters to look at for every 15-minute segment.  You determine if the tracing is normal, 
atypical or abnormal based on parameters such as baseline fetal heart rate, variability, 
accelerations, and decelerations. She noted the interpretation will guide health care practitioners 
in determining whether they need to take any additional interventions or not. She noted that a 
new guideline came out in 2019, but Alberta took some time to create the Practice Support 
Document. 
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Ms. Curran identified the partogram used for labour and delivery documentation and noted that 
the primary nurse is responsible for charting on the partogram. It is the overall clinical picture as 
to what is going on throughout the labour and birth process. She noted that the maternal heart 
rate and the fetal heart rate are both to be documented, just to double check that there are two 
distinct heart rates. A notation of “N” is a shorthand version for normal. “AT” would be a 
classification of atypical and “AB” would be an abnormal classification.  
 
Ms. Curran identified the electronic fetal monitoring strip. She identified that there are two lines, 
the fetal heart which is a darker line and the maternal heart which is a lighter line, which is 
recorded using the saturation probe (“SpO2”) on the mother’s finger. The squares indicate 
movement in the abdomen. The bottom shows the contraction monitor, which measures pressure 
in the abdomen. The electronic fetal monitoring strip also notes the SpO2 and the mother’s pulse, 
being the average heart rate. Questions marks on the electronic fetal monitoring strip are a 
heartbeat coincidence alarm alerting the medical profession to confirm that they have two patients 
with two distinct heart rates. 
 
Ms. Curran found discrepancies between her classification of the electronic fetal monitoring strips 
and the charting in the partogram. According to her timeline, the fetal heart rate was classified as 
abnormal at various points, contrary to the normal classifications charted in the partogram. 
Additionally, the electronic fetal monitoring strips showed periods where the fetal and maternal 
heart rates overlapped, triggering question marks on the monitor, indicating uncertainty about 
whether two separate heart rates were being monitored. 
 
Ms. Curran emphasized the importance of physically listening to the fetal heart rate with an 
ultrasound monitor auditorily and palpating the maternal pulse to ensure two distinct heart rates 
are being monitored. She stated that nurses should take action, such as communicating with the 
physician or using an internal fetal monitor, when the monitor indicates uncertainty about 
monitoring two separate heart rates. 
 
Ms. Curran reviewed the electronic fetal monitoring strips, specifically her interpretation of the 
fetal heart rate baseline, decelerations, and the presence of two overlapping lines on the 
electronic fetal monitoring strips. Ms. Curran explained that the two overlapping lines represent 
the maternal heart rate and the fetal heart rate, and that the monitor's question marks indicate a 
potential issue in distinguishing between the two. 
 
Ms. Curran noted that the squares on the electronic fetal monitoring strips can indicate fetal 
movement but they actually determine any sort of movement anywhere in the uterus. There can 
be cases where there is known fetal demise but there are boxes on the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip. She acknowledged that it is not the best technology, but it is all that is available at the 
moment. Contractions are picked up by a different monitor, the TOCO.  
 
Ms. Curran acknowledged that you are putting everything together. In the specific moment of 
time, something may not be concerning, but it is necessary to look at the overall clinical picture 
over the course of time to see what is going on. A contraction can create a deceleration as can 
movement by the mother. Ms. Curran noted that decelerations are problems and warrant 
persistent and vigilant monitoring, taking into consideration the overall clinical picture and looking 
at what is going on with the labour progress, the mother, the risk factors, how the mother is 
dilating, what is going on with the baby and the vital signs for the mother.  
 
Ms. Curren stated that, in order to understand the overall clinical picture, it is important to be in 
the room at the moment. Ms. Curran noted this is one of the restrictions of reviewing a case based 
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only on documentation. She was not in the room and so there are many things that she does not 
know in terms of what was going on in this case. 
 
Ms. Curran testified that when there are two overlapping lines, intervention measures should be 
taken to determine that there are two patients, including palpating for the maternal heart rate and 
listening to the fetal heart rate. The maternal heart rate monitor on the mother’s finger is only 
picking up the mother’s heart rate. She noted the importance of communicating with the physician. 
The internal lead can also be placed to determine if the fetal heart rate is being traced. She stated 
that the best thing to do is to palpate maternal pulse and listen to your auditory beats to know that 
they are beating differently.   
 
Ms. Curran stated that it is virtually impossible to get hours upon hours of a maternal heart rate 
that matches exactly the same as the fetal heart rate. She acknowledged that the SpO2 probe 
may not always pick up a reading. The technology is not the best technology. Ms. Curran noted 
that if the lighter line is recording on the electronic fetal monitoring strip the SpO2 has to be on 
and that the TOCO records contractions, not the mother’s heart rate. 
 
Ms. Curran noted that the cardiac monitor put on  in the operating room for the C-section had 
her heart rate at 150 beats per minute, and that there is a correlation between the two different 
monitors to say that the maternal heart rate was tachycardic. 
 
A nurse in the room would be looking at the fetal heart rate, the mother’s heart rate and 
contractions. However in her review, she focused on the fetal heart rate and did not pay close 
attention to the contractions.  
 
Ms. Curran was questioned about the number of vacuum delivery attempts made in the case, 
which she indicated was nine. She cited best practice guidelines recommending a maximum of 
three vacuum "pop-offs" before considering a C-section. 
 
Based on her review of the electronic fetal monitoring strips, Ms. Curran provided her opinion on 
the approximate timing when the fetal demise likely occurred, suggesting it was around 1700h 
based on the fading fetal heart rate (darker line) and concerning uterine activity patterns on the 
electronic fetal monitoring strips. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal questioned Ms. Curran about the difference between classifying fetal heart 
rate patterns as "atypical" or "abnormal." Ms. Curran explains that an atypical classification 
warrants vigilance and monitoring but not necessarily immediate intervention, while an abnormal 
classification typically requires prompt delivery action. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal sought clarification from Ms. Curran on the specific monitoring equipment 
used to obtain the tracings on the electronic fetal monitoring strips, such as ultrasound 
transducers, pulse oximeters, and TOCO for monitoring contractions. Ms. Curran noted that the 
ultrasound monitor that is monitoring the fetal heart, is on the patient’s exterior abdomen and is 
the darker line on the tracing. The SpO2 records the mother’s pulse and heart rate and is the 
lighter line. The TOCO is also placed on the exterior of the abdomen and measures pressure 
changes in the uterus and contractions and is the line with the “little mountains”. 
 
Dr. Cheyanne Vetter 
 
Dr. Cheyanne Vetter is a family physician, with training in surgical skills, obstetrics and 
endoscopy. She has worked at the Facility since 2020, when she finished her residency. She 
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described the unit at the Facility as having one active labour room, three postpartum rooms and 
an operating room in the Facility.  
  
Dr. Vetter was the most responsible physician for  care. On September 21, 2022,  was 
induced on an oxytocin infusion. The nursing shift is one-to-one with the patient. During the day 
shift, there is another nurse on shift with labour and delivery training.  
 
Dr. Vetter noted that she had multiple interactions with Ms. Nygaard during the course of the day 
shift. Ms. Kern came in at shift change and took over from Ms. Nygaard. Ms. Nygaard and then 
Ms. Kern were responsible for monitoring the fetal and maternal heart rates. 
 
Dr. Vetter was asked about the electronic fetal monitoring strip and noted that the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip was alarming in that there might not be a fetal heart rate. Dr. Vetter testified that 
at 1700, they knew they did not have a great strip. Ms. Nygaard was adjusting the monitor to get 
a better tracing.  
 
Dr. Vetter was asked about what was conveyed to her by the Registrants during several time 
frames. She noted that Ms. Nygaard and then Ms. Kern conveyed that the fetal heart rate was 
normal and that the maternal heart rate was normal by palpation.  
 
In cross-examination, Dr. Vetter noted that it was  who had raised the possibility of a vaginal 
delivery. Dr. Vetter confirmed being aware of risks of a vaginal delivery after a previous C-section. 
 
Dr. Vetter stated that she assessed  midday and thought the progress was slow. At that time, 
she stated to  that a C-section was a reasonable option or giving it a little bit more time would 
also be reasonable.  indicated that she wished to keep trying a little bit longer and see what 
happened, and if there was no progress, then they would do a C-section. After lunch, Dr. Vetter 
checked  and she was progressing well. Dr. Vetter did not bring up the C-section at that time. 
She suggested a C-section later when  was actively pushing. Dr. Vetter testified that before 
she applied the vacuum, she gave  the choice of a vacuum or a C-section.   wished to 
proceed with the vacuum attempt. 
 
Dr. Vetter made multiple attempts at vacuum-assisted vaginal delivery. She attempted more than 
three and testified that this is not common. She asked for the operating room to be on standby at 
that time. When the vacuum attempts failed, she consulted another physician, Dr. DeVos, before 
proceeding to a C-section after difficulties finding the fetal heart rate. 
 
During the last vacuum attempt, Ms. Kern reported that the fetal heart rate was normal. When 
they were getting ready for the operating room, Ms. Kern informed Dr. Vetter that she could not 
find a fetal heart rate. At that point, Dr. Vetter went back and re-assessed and they got an 
ultrasound machine (often referred to as a Doppler) into the room. When they could not find a 
fetal heart rate, they went directly to the operating room for a “stat” section. Dr. Vetter testified 
that a decision had already been made after the failed vacuum attempts to do a C-section, but 
was made “stat” (that is, immediate) due to the loss of the fetal heart rate. 
 
Dr. Vetter disputed the suggestion made by  that she had repeatedly requested a C-section 
earlier due to severe pain. She denied telling  that a C-section was too risky. Dr. Vetter testified 
that there is never a time where it is too high risk to do a C-section and that she did not consider 
it too risky to do a C-section in this case. Dr. Vetter denied being told by  that she felt a band 
ripping across her abdomen during labour. Dr. Vetter testified that  told her this the next day. 
If  had reported that during labour, that would have been a sign of a uterine rupture and they 
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would have gone to the operating room. Dr. Vetter testified that  was conscious during the 
attempts at pushing and denied having to wake her up or asking the nurse to wake her up to push. 
 
Questions were raised about the interpretation of certain fetal heart rate tracings and whether 
nursing staff accurately conveyed readings to Dr. Vetter. Dr. Vetter noted the electronic fetal 
monitoring strips had a question mark on them, which is an indication of an alarm. Dr. Vetter also 
noted that the maternal and fetal heart rates look the same on the tracings. Dr. Vetter noted that 
in looking at the electronic fetal monitoring strip, it raises the question of whether the maternal 
heart rate and the fetal heart rate are the same tracing, which can be verified by taking the 
mother’s pulse. Dr. Vetter recalled asking Ms. Nygaard to check  pulse by palpation and Ms. 
Nygaard reported that it was normal. If the mother’s pulse by palpation is different than the pulse 
on the electronic fetal monitoring strip, then this confirms you have two separate heart rates, a 
fetal and a maternal heart rate. 
 
Dr. Vetter was asked about the tracing when the vacuum attempts were done and noted the 
tracing made sense during those vacuum attempts. 
 
Dr. Vetter recalled Ms. Nygaard advising her that the fetal heart rate was normal but that the 
contractions were spacing.  
 
In re-examination, Dr. Vetter confirmed that at pulse noted at the bottom of the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip tracing is the maternal pulse. 
 
Dr. Werner DeVos 
 
Dr. DeVos is a medical doctor at the Facility doing general practice, anesthesia, obstetrics, and 
maternal medicine.  
 
Dr. DeVos described the obstetrical unit at the Facility as a rural hospital unit with 2 to 4 rooms, 
one operating room, and physicians covering obstetrics and anesthesia. 
 
Dr. DeVos testified that he was called to provide anesthesia management and an epidural for  
on September 21, 2022. He described his interactions with  primarily as an anesthesiologist. 
He had interactions with Ms. Nygaard and Ms. Kern regarding the patient's pain control and need 
for anesthesia top-ups throughout the labour. 
 
Dr. DeVos explained that he would ask the Registrants about the baby's and  condition, but 
no concerns were relayed by the Registrants whenever he had to change the medication rate or 
anesthesia level.  
 
In cross-examination, Dr. DeVos noted that he was in the room for some time during pushing. He 
did not recall  asking for a C-section while he was in the room. Dr. DeVos recalled that Dr. 
Vetter thought a C-section was a good idea and inquiring if  wanted to go for a C-section but 

 wanted to try to avoid a C-section. Dr. DeVos testified that this was the reason he was 
requested to evaluate her as an obstetrician.  
 
Dr. DeVos testified that in hindsight, he felt the fetal heart rate monitoring may have been 
misinterpreted at times during the labour.  
 
In response to questions from the Hearing Tribunal, Dr. DeVos noted that when he was asked to 
provide a second opinion, he did an evaluation and attempted to apply the vacuum 
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unsuccessfully, at which time he recommended a C-section. That was changed to a “stat” section 
after Ms. Kern had trouble confirming the fetal heart rate. 
 
Dr. DeVos described what a manual check of the mother’s heart rate entails, to ensure that the 
heart rate on the tracing is the fetal heart rate and not the mother’s. Ms. Nygaard confirmed  
heart rate earlier in the day to him. Later, Ms. Kern could not confirm the fetal heart and called for 
Dr. Vetter. Attempts were made with an ultrasound machine and that is when a “stat” C-section 
was called. 
 

 
 

 works as a hydrovac operator, town councilor, and volunteer firefighter. He and his wife  
were at the Facility for the birth of their son.  testified that he did not recall a lot from September 
21, 2022. 
 

 testified that Ms. Nygaard's care of his wife seemed normal and routine. He did not recall any 
concerns being raised by Ms. Nygaard about the fetal status, and she conveyed that everything 
was progressing normally during her shift. 
 

 described  as being in a great deal of pain during labour and made a hand motion towards 
her lower section saying something had "ripped or snapped," and her pain seemed to worsen 
progressively.  appeared to be in and out of consciousness.  stated that the Registrants did 
not seem concerned, with the message being that it was normal for childbirth.  
 

 stated that Ms. Kern initially appeared to be providing normal care. However, approximately 
45 minutes into her shift, she seemed to realize something was wrong and left the room, 
presumably to alert others. From that point, the care provided changed. 
 
In terms of  level of consciousness,  described that  would be talking a little bit audibly 
and then all of a sudden her eyes would be closed. Then she would come back and be in pain.  
 

 was asked about his recollection of discussions of a C-section.  testified that, towards the 
end, two options were discussed, being a C-section or continued pushing. 
 
Dianne Mailloux 
 
Dianne Mailloux is a Registered Nurse and received a diploma in 1994. Ms. Mailloux was working 
as the charge nurse on the acute care floor, which includes labour and delivery, at the Facility on 
September 21, 2022, from 0700 to 1915h. While she had a patient load as charge nurse, in 2022 
she was not working as a primary labour and delivery nurse that day, but would cover breaks.  
 
Ms. Mailloux relieved the primary labour nurse, Ms. Nygaard, for breaks during  labour, 
although she testified that she did not recall how many breaks she covered. During these breaks, 
Ms. Mailloux monitored the fetal heart rate, contractions, and  condition. She interpreted the 
electronic fetal monitoring strips and found no significant concerns, describing the readings as 
normal. Ms. Mailloux noted that she also visited with  during the break as she knows her very 
well. 
 
Ms. Mailloux reviewed the patient chart and noted that it appeared that she took over from Ms. 
Nygaard around 1300h. Ms. Mailloux identified  vitals, the pain scale and fetal heart rate.  
was receiving an epidural at this time. She confirmed that she was aware of the monitor used at 
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the time. Ms. Mailloux recalled covering the evening break at 1607h. Ms. Mailloux did not recall if 
 was in a lot of pain, but they were visiting together and talking so she thought that  must 

not have been in pain. They had a very calm interaction and  was very excited for the arrival 
of her baby. She stated that  was not in and out of consciousness and believed that  was 
there during the 1607h break. She did not recall  mentioning any concerns. Ms. Mailloux noted 
that  was adamant that she wanted the baby naturally, if that was at all possible.  
 
Ms. Mailloux was asked if she stayed in the room after the dinner break when Ms. Nygaard came 
back. She stated that she did not believe that she did and thought she would have gone back to 
the floor as she was the charge nurse. 
 
Ms. Mailloux attended a staff meeting which ended at approximately 1930h, although she did not 
recall the exact time. Upon returning to the unit, she went to  labour room to see if the baby 
had been born. The physicians and Ms. Kern were there and there was a discussion of having a 
C-section. She wished them luck and headed out. As she was going down the hallway, Ms. Kern  
came down the hallway and asked her to come back. Ms. Kern informed her that she could not 
find the fetal heart rate. Ms. Mailloux attempted to locate it but was unsuccessful and so she told 
Ms. Kern she would go get Dr. Vetter and get the ultrasound machine. They were unsuccessful 
in finding a heart rate and so they went straight to a C-section. She assisted Ms. Kern in getting 
the patient ready for the operating room. 
 
Ms. Mailloux reviewed her documentation and the partogram. She noted that you cannot assess 
what is happening based only on the electronic fetal monitoring strip, you need the entire picture 
of what is happening with the patient, for example, is she anxious, is she on the ball, lying down, 
or is she having a contraction.  
 
Ms. Mailloux noted that if there is a break in the readings or the monitor seems to not be working 
properly, they may try to adjust the equipment. She noted that the equipment does not always 
work. Ms. Mailloux noted that she did not know what the question marks were on the electronic 
fetal monitoring strip and could not recall seeing those previously or being taught what these 
represented. She agreed that having the two lines showing the heart rates overlapping for hours 
would not be normal and that she would communicate that to the physician.  
 
Ms. Mailloux testified that if the electronic fetal monitoring strip is not normal you would need to 
reassess the fetal heart rate and mother’s pulse. She would palpate the mother’s heart rate and 
use a Doppler to check the fetal heart rate. She would also call the physician to come check on 
the patient.  
 
An operative report by Dr. DeVos, was shown to Ms. Mailloux, which stated that the fetal heart 
tracing was temporarily found by Dr. Vetter but was then lost, leading to the emergency C-section. 
Ms. Mailloux testified that she could not confirm if Dr. Vetter had found the fetal heart rate. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal sought clarification on specific entries, timelines, and Ms. Mailloux's 
presence during certain events. Questions were raised about Ms. Mailloux's documentation on 
the partogram (a detailed record of labour progress). While she confirmed charting some entries, 
she could not definitively identify all her charting due to similarities with Ms. Nygaard's 
handwriting.  
 
Chantel Nygaard 
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Ms. Nygaard is a registered nurse with a Bachelor's degree in Nursing. She graduated in 2017. 
She had been a labour and delivery nurse for 5 years at the time of the incident in September 
2022. She had taken a short-term contract working at the Facility. She had received training in 
fetal health surveillance and interpreting fetal monitoring strips. She had just retaken the course 
prior to her contract at the Facility. 
 
Ms. Nygaard identified the monitor manual used at the Facility, which was marked as Exhibit 4.  
 
On September 21, 2022, Ms. Nygaard was the primary labour and delivery nurse for  Ms. 
Nygaard was responsible for monitoring  labour progress and interpreting the electronic fetal 
monitoring strips. She was working the day shift. 
 
The monitor was used on  with the ultrasound transducer that plugs into it the TOCO monitor, 
a blood pressure cuff and SpO2 monitor. 
 
Ms. Nygaard noted that if the mother is being repositioned, is bouncing on the ball, is having a 
vaginal examination, is uncomfortable or coughing, this can affect the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip. The mother being repositioned, pushing and contractions can also affect the fetal heart rate. 
 
During her testimony, Ms. Nygaard explained in detail how she interpreted the electronic fetal 
monitoring strips, including the significance of various patterns, lines, and symbols. She explained 
her interpretation of the electronic fetal monitoring strips as normal, despite question marks and 
overlapping lines appearing at times. She noted that you need to be in the room knowing what is 
happening and assessing the patient and the conversations that are being had. 
 
Ms. Nygaard noted that she took three breaks. Dianne Mailloux covered for her. Around the lunch 
break, Ms. Nygaard got an epidural top up for  was not in a lot of pain nor was she 
screaming in pain prior to her supper break. The supper break was from 1607h to 1637h. After 
Ms. Nygaard’s supper break,  was uncomfortable and then she was reassessed. She was fully 
dilated and having rectal pain and so Ms. Nygaard called Dr. Vetter to reassessed  The plan 
was to get adequate pain control and then reassess her. Ms. Mailloux stayed after the dinner 
break, as she was a friend of  Ms. Mailloux stayed until her evening meeting.   
 

 did some trial pushes and it was decided she would be set up for delivery. Ms. Nygaard 
testified that  did not go in and out of consciousness. Ms. Mailloux had not reported any 
concerns about consciousness to Ms. Nygaard and said that  was excited for her delivery.  
never screamed or complained about any band ripping across her abdomen. The fetal heart rate 
was normal during her shift between 125 and 140 beats per minute, with a normal rate between 
110 and 160 beats per minute.  husband never expressed concerns. 
 
Dr. Vetter had offered a C-section to  at the lunchtime reassessment, but  refused it. Dr. 
Vetter mentioned it again while they were setting up for  to push and  refused.  asked 
that a vacuum or forceps be tried before going for a C-section. 
 
Ms. Nygaard noted that from Exhibit 4, the maternal pulse can be recorded on the electronic fetal 
monitoring tracing either by the TOCO or the SpO2 monitor. On the tracing, if there is a question 
mark and a dash following the SpO2 notation and a “little monitor” after the “Pulse” notation, then 
the SpO2 monitor is not on. At that time, the TOCO is measuring the maternal heart rate. When 
the SpO2 is on, then on the tracing, there will be a percentage following the SpO2 notation and 
the picture beside the “Pulse” will be a waveform. 
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Ms. Nygaard testified that they are taught to ensure they are monitoring two patients when they 
see the two lines together. If you are palpating the maternal pulse while you are listening to the 
fetal heart beat, then there are two separate heart beats. You know you are then monitoring two 
different patients but the monitor is not recording the maternal heart rate properly. This was 
discussed with Dr. Vetter all throughout the pushing phase as this was happening throughout. 
Ms. Nygaard palpated the maternal pulse which was different than what they were audibly hearing 
on the monitor. She told Dr. Vetter it was different and Dr. Vetter stated that “okay, then we have 
two patients”. Dr. DeVos was sitting by the door and could hear the conversation with Dr. Vetter 
the entire time that he sat there. He was the anesthetist at that point. A scalp electrode was not 
used as Dr. Vetter did not feel it was necessary with the anticipation of potentially using a vacuum 
or forceps. 
 
Ms. Nygaard reviewed the electronic fetal monitoring tracing for her shift. When she came back 
from her dinner break, Dr. Vetter was at the bedside wanting to reassess  She checked  
who was fully dilated. They did two trial pushes which coincides with big decelerations on the 
tracing. Because of the decelerations, Dr. Vetter decided that  should bet set up for delivery. 
Ms. Nygaard was palpating for contractions and adjusting the fetal heart rate monitor. If she has 
time, she would chart, otherwise she would chart at a later time.  
 
Ms. Nygaard reviewed the partogram which noted that  was actively pushing at 1647h. Dr. 
Vetter ordered fentanyl for the rectal pressure and Ms. Mailloux went to get that. Ms. Nygaard 
noted that she palpated mom’s heartbeat that was the same as the monitor during contractions 
and she made Dr. Vetter aware. She continued to adjust the monitor. As the baby moves lower 
into the birth canal, it can be a bit tricky to obtain a great tracing. The question marks started 
showing up and Ms. Nygaard knew this was a coincidence alarm and she needed to ensure she 
had two patients. There is an audible alarm as well as the question marks. She palpated the 
maternal pulse continuously and ensured by listening to the fetal heart rate monitor that she had 
two patients. They were different beats. She communicated continuously to Dr. Vetter. 
 
The monitor does not pick up on abdominal pressure and you need to palpate the abdomen. Ms. 
Nygaard noted that the blips on the bottom of the tracing with jagged peaks are when  was 
pushing.  
 
She continuously palpated after every contraction, maternal heart rate versus fetal heart rate and 
they continued to be different. She discussed this with Dr. Vetter throughout. The fetal heart rate 
was within the normal range and Dr. Vetter was satisfied that there were two patients. 
 
Ms. Nygaard noted that sometimes during contractions when the mother is pushing there is a loss 
of contact where the fetal heart rate does not pick up.  That was occurring at 1700h. Ms. Nygaard 
noted that on the electronic fetal monitoring strip, this is occurring and the strip shows that there 
is a lot of fetal movement. At 1730h,  was continuing to push and there was still lots of fetal 
movement. The two lines on the electronic fetal monitoring strip were together and there were 
question marks on the strip, but Dr. Vetter was aware and Ms. Nygaard was palpating the 
maternal pulse. Dr. Vetter requested the Syntocin (Synto) to be increased at that time which was 
done by verbal order, to bring the contractions closer together to have more effective pushing. 
The charting was done by the LPN as Ms. Nygaard was busy by the bedside. There was almost 
an hour of pushing with no great movement. Dr. Vetter then discussed a C-section with the patient 
which was refused and then at 1745h, Dr. Vetter discussed using the vacuum and the patient 
agreed.  
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Ms. Nygaard continued to palpate the maternal pulse as there were still two overlapping lines and 
Dr. Vetter was aware. The patient was still pushing and there was good fetal movement.  
 
There were several vacuum attempts between 1748h and 1828h. Ms. Nygaard voiced each 
vacuum pop-off, where the suction of the vacuum to the baby’s head is lost, to Dr. Vetter so she 
was aware. Ms. Nygaard requested the LPN to write down the times and Ms. Nygaard then did a 
late entry since she was at the patient’s bedside. While the vacuum attempts were more than the 
policy suggested, there was descent noted and Dr. Vetter made the decision to continue as the 
patient had refused a C-section and Dr. Vetter believed that the delivery was going to be imminent. 
Ms. Nygaard noted that you would not see the vacuum attempts on the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip. 
  
Ms. Nygaard was asked if  was in distress and she noted that everyone in labour is in distress 
to a certain extent, as it is an exhaustive and hard process. However, it was when  was having 
breakthrough contraction pain, which they took action for such as repositioning, epidural bolus 
button, getting her a top-up and calling Dr. Vetter to get her reassessed.  
 
Ms. Nygaard reviewed the patient record, which noted that, at 1215h, the patient stated the 
pressure was increasing and Dr. Vetter was called to reassess; at 1230h Dr. Vetter was in to 
reassess and her plan was to get a top-up and then reassess in two hours and Dr. DeVos was 
called by Dr. Vetter. At 1231h Dr. DeVos was in for the epidural top-up and then Ms. Mailloux 
took over for a break. Ms. Nygaard returned at 1340h and patient stated she was having slight 
cramping in her right lower abdomen with contractions and the bolus button was used for the 
epidural and Ms. Nygaard continued to monitor. At 1400h the epidural rate was increased 
according to Dr. DeVos’s verbal orders. At 1412h, Ms. Nygaard called Dr. Vetter to come reassess 
as she was not able to reposition due to the pain. At 1415h, Dr. Vetter was in to reassess and the 
patient was at 6 centimeters. The plan was to have adequate pain control and reposition the baby. 
At 1430h Dr. DeVos was called and Ms. Nygaard got orders to give the patient a clinician bolus 
and to call back in 15 to 20 minutes with an update. Ms. Nygaard then repositioned the patient. 
At 1500h, Dr. DeVos was called with an update. Patient noted that her pain was no longer in her 
hip but in her vagina. At 1520h, the patient was resting comfortably and at 1545h she stated there 
was an increase in rectal pressure. Dr. Vetter was in to reassess. The patient was almost fully 
dilated. Dr. Vetter was in to reassess in approximately 45 minutes. Ms. Nygaard did an in and out 
catheter and repositioned her and then Ms. Mailloux took over for the supper break. When Ms. 
Nygaard returned, the patient was reassessed, was fully dilated, having rectal pain and was given 
the fentanyl and set up to push. 
 
Ms. Nygaard reviewed the pain numbers provided by the patient, which were between 0 and 5 
out of 10. Ms. Nygaard considered this discomfort but not distress in terms of labour and delivery. 
 
In terms of fetal distress, Ms. Nygaard noted that the baby had decelerations with the trial pushes, 
which would be considered distress, however, Dr. Vetter was aware as she was doing an 
assessment and she determined that the action to be taken was to set up the patient for delivery. 
 
Ms. Nygaard noted that she was listening to the fetal heart rate on the monitor.  was not off 
the monitor, so they did not require a handheld Doppler and did not use the fetal scalp electrode 
as Dr. Vetter did not view that to be necessary. Ms. Nygaard denied failing to listen to the baby’s 
heart rate. The patient was having contractions throughout Ms. Nygaard’s shift. Ms. Nygaard 
palpated them while she was at the patient’s bedside. Her practice is to palpate every contraction 
while pushing, especially where a deep epidural has been given. Ms. Nygaard testified that she 
was aware of the question marks on the electronic fetal monitoring strip and she took action by 
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discussing with Dr. Vetter and palpating the maternal heart rate to ensure there were two different 
patients.  
 
Ms. Nygaard noted that she was not part of the chart review done at the Facility. 
 
In cross-examination, Ms. Nygaard confirmed that her shift started at 0700h and Ms. Kern got 
there at 1925h. Ms. Nygaard stayed late until Ms. Kern got there. Ms. Nygaard confirmed that 
during her shift, she was the primary nurse and charted in the partogram. She charted “normal” 
under fetal health surveillance throughout her shift. She did not use a Doppler to listen to the fetal 
heart rate. Ms. Nygaard noted there was no need to as the patient was on a continuous monitor. 
She did not consider that it would have been prudent to use the Doppler given the question marks 
and overlapping lines. Ms. Nygaard noted that except for her breaks, she was in the patient room, 
at bedside or setting up for delivery and did not believe she missed any signs of patient distress. 
Ms. Nygaard noted that she did not chart longhand her conversations with Dr. Vetter, including 
advising Dr. Vetter about the question marks on the electronic fetal monitoring strip, as she was 
busy with patient care, which took priority over charting at that time. 
 
Ms. Nygaard confirmed that the dark line on the tracing is the fetal heart rate and the lighter line 
is the maternal heart rate. The pulse at the bottom of the screen is the maternal pulse. This is 
always the case, unless the monitor is not reading accurately. Ms. Nygaard indicated that the 
question marks do not have anything to do with whether you classify the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip as normal, abnormal or atypical. She noted that the two lines correlating would be 
concerning, which is why they make sure they have two patients. However, you have to look at 
what is happening in the room, you cannot look only at the electronic fetal monitoring strip to say 
if it is normal or abnormal. The pulse noted on the electronic fetal monitoring strip correlates with 
the mother’s pulse. However, she reiterated that she ensured she had two different patients.  
 
In re-examination, Ms. Nygaard noted that distress is different than normal labour pain. She also 
indicated that charting is different in the delivery room as the nurse is having continuous 
discussions at the bedside during delivery. Some things are charted, others are missed or charted 
at a later time. But it is not always possible to chart in the moment. She noted that the question 
marks on the electronic fetal monitoring strip alert you to ensure you have two different patients, 
which she did. The question marks do not mean you only have one patient. In terms of the monitor 
pulse noting that  pulse was 169 and Ms. Nygaard was manually palpating the pulse to be 
77, Ms. Nygaard noted that it is possible that the monitor was wrong and the technology was 
faulty. She palpated adequately, as did Ms. Kern who took over the shift following Ms. Nygaard’s 
shift. She was satisfied that she had two different patients, because she was palpating the 
maternal pulse on the patient’s wrist, which was a different beat than the beat she was hearing 
on the monitor. She noted that palpating a patient’s pulse is a basic physical assessment they 
learn in nursing school and nurses are also educated on it in labour and delivery. 
 
In re-cross-examination, Ms. Nygaard acknowledged that it would be possible for a Registered 
Nurse to palpate a maternal pulse improperly.  
 
Kelsey Kern 
 
Kelsey Kern is a registered nurse with a Bachelor's degree who had been working as a labour 
and delivery nurse since 2017. She had taken the fetal health surveillance course in May or June 
2022. In 2022, she worked on the labour and delivery unit at the Facility. She had been on 
maternity leave and came back in August 2022. When she returned to work, she reviewed the 
policies and manuals. She continues to be employed at the Facility on a casual basis. 
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Ms. Kern noted that Ms. Curran had stated that changes to the Fetal Health Surveillance program 
occurred in 2020, but it took Alberta some time to make their own practice support document and 
distribute it. The version of the Fetal Health Surveillance Practice Support Document dated 
August 2022 in the Agreed Exhibit Book was not the one in the Facility in September 2022.  
 
Ms. Kern reviewed generally what information is provided on the electronic fetal monitoring strip. 
There is an ultrasound connected to the monitor that sits on the mother’s abdomen. They try to 
connect it to the fetal back, as that will generally give the best fetal heart rate. There is a blood 
pressure monitor. The electronic fetal monitoring strip prints the dark line for the fetal heart rate. 
There is an SpO2 monitor that connects and that provides the blood oxygen saturation and can 
also give the maternal heart rate, which shows up as the lighter line. There is a TOCO connected, 
which monitors contractions. It prints contractions at the bottom, showing the frequency and 
duration, but not the intensity of the contraction, which needs to be manually palpated. In some 
cases the TOCO can also read a maternal heart rate. On the electronic fetal monitoring strip, the 
question marks tells them to make sure they have two patients and that they are monitoring two 
patients and not just one. The electronic fetal monitoring strip also has little black boxes which 
show fetal movement.  
 
In interpreting the electronic fetal monitoring strip, a nurse would look at the fetal heart rate and 
how it is responding. They will look for moderate variability which would indicate that the baby is 
responding well and getting the amount of oxygen needed. They will look for accelerations and 
decelerations. They take into account the mother’s heart rate and contraction patterns, and in 
general, the whole clinical picture, since the electronic fetal monitoring strip only provides some 
information. They need to assess what is going in the room to decide if the information in the 
electronic fetal monitoring strip is accurate. A tracing can have gaps or artifacts, especially with 
the fetal heart rate which can be caused by the mother’s movements or the baby’s movements.  
 
On September 21, 2022, Ms. Kern took over care of  from Ms. Nygaard at 1925h. She attended 
report at 1900h because after the delivery she would have other patients. She then went to the 
patient’s room and took over  care at 1925h, at which time she received report from Ms. 
Nygaard at the patient’s bedside. Ms. Nygaard relayed the patient’s history, reason for induction, 
methods of induction, that oxytocin had been started and that during the day, she had discomfort 
with contractions and Dr. DeVos placed an epidural. Ms. Nygaard told her about the patient’s 
vitals, including blood pressure and maternal heart rate and that there were decelerations 
throughout the day, but they were watching them and they came back to normal. Ms. Nygaard 
relayed the vacuum attempts and that the patient really wanted a vaginal birth. Ms. Nygaard 
mentioned about the coincidence alarms and that the two heart rates looked similar, but that the 
physician was aware and that they had been manually palpating the maternal pulse to make sure 
they had two patients. Dr. Vetter was at the foot of the bed and Ms. Kerns confirmed with her as 
well. Ms. Kern also reviewed the tracing with Ms. Nygaard. The baby’s heart rate was within a 
normal range with moderate variability. There was fetal movement. Ms. Kerns was comfortable 
that everything was normal at that time. The patient was still pushing at this time. Dr. DeVos was 
there as well. 
 
Ms. Kern was responsible for monitoring  labour progress using an electronic fetal monitor, 
which was on the patient the entire time. There was also a blood pressure cuff and TOCO. There 
was a temperature probe used regularly. Later, a handheld ultrasound (Doppler) was used. Ms. 
Kern stated that the SpO2 was used from time to time, but the patient did not want it on the entire 
time, as it can be a hindrance during labour. The patient also had an epidural and IV. 
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The electronic fetal monitoring strip does not, on its own, provide information about everything 
that is happening. For example, it does not register if the patient is moving, vaginal examinations, 
vacuum attempts or conversations that are occurring between the nurse and physician. 
 
Ms. Kern explained that at the Facility, a clinical bolus is where the physician will administer a 
dose of medication directly into the epidural. 
 
Ms. Kern explained the case review that occurred. She testified that she expected it to be more 
educational, but it felt somewhat accusatory. There were questions asked but she felt that they 
did not go through the chart to look at specific times and see what was happening to really 
understand the electronic fetal monitoring strips. 
 
Ms. Kern also saw the coincidence alarms (question marks) when she took over patient care and 
also manually palpated the maternal pulse. Ms. Kern also made Dr. Vetter aware that there were 
coincidence alarms and that she manually palpated the maternal pulse. Dr. Vetter asked her to 
continue to palpate. Ms. Kern stated that she did this multiple times during her shift. The maternal 
pulse was between 70 and 90 on palpation. Ms. Kern noted that this is a fairly straightforward skill 
that they learn in school and that she does often.  
 
Ms. Kern noted that Dr. DeVos was in the patient’s room when she started her shift and at one 
point, he provided a second opinion after the patient asked him. The contractions had started to 
slow and Ms. Kern let Dr. Vetter know that there had not been a contraction for some time. Dr. 
Vetter gave an order to increase the oxytocin to try to get the contractions started again. The 
decision was made to try one more vacuum attempt, which was unsuccessful. Dr. Vetter had a 
discussion about that her chances of a successful vaginal delivery were decreasing and 
discussed having a C-section and the patient asked for forceps. They were tried, but could not be 
applied. The patient then asked Dr. DeVos for a second opinion. At that point, they thought the 
baby was still healthy and he agreed to do one more vacuum attempt. Dr. DeVos tried the vacuum, 
which was unsuccessful. Dr. DeVos told the patient that the only option was a C-section.  
 
Ms. Kern noted that there was still fetal movement, which showed as the black boxes on the 
electronic fetal monitoring strip and which were also confirmed by  The patient’s husband was 
also in the room and did not voice any concerns. The patient rated her pain as 5 out of 10, which 
Ms. Kern considered to be moderate and then a 3 out of 10. The patient rested once the 
contractions slowed, and she closed her eyes and rested. However,  always answered Ms. 
Kern’s questions.  never lost consciousness and was not confused.  
 
Ms. Kern observed the overlapping maternal and fetal heart rate lines on the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip, but was manually palpating the patient’s abdomen and confirmed a separate 
maternal pulse, leading her to believe they were monitoring two separate patients.  
 
Dr. Vetter had been in the room throughout but left around 2045h to change into scrubs to get 
ready for the operating room. Dr. DeVos had already left to get ready as well. 
 
When she was preparing the patient for the C-section, Ms. Kern noticed that the monitor was only 
recording the maternal heart rate. She asked the patient if she had moved or the baby had moved 
and the patient said she had not moved and that she had not felt big movements but baby was 
still moving.  Ms. Kern tried repositioning the ultrasound transducer. She then called Ms. Mailloux 
for help. While Ms. Mailloux was trying to find the fetal heart rate, Ms. Kern ran to get Dr. Vetter 
and they came right back. Dr. Vetter asked for an ultrasound machine and found a fetal heart rate 
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briefly around 154 to 156 beats before it was lost again. The patient was then taken to the 
operating room for an emergency C-section, which was performed by Dr. DeVos. 
 
Ms. Kern provided a review of the electronic monitoring strip during her testimony, noting that she 
classified it as normal. Ms. Kern reviewed her charting. Ms. Kern noted that at 2045h the was new 
paper in the monitor. 
 
Ms. Kern did not view that the patient was in distress although she acknowledged that a patient 
may feel they are in distress because labour is so exhausting. Ms. Kern stated that she did not 
see fetal distress until they lost the fetal heart rate. Ms. Kern stated that there was nothing she 
could have done to stop the question marks on the electronic fetal monitoring strip. 
  
After delivery, Ms. Kern discussed  right to request an autopsy but did not recommend against 
it, contrary to  testimony. Ms. Kern felt  received preferential treatment as a staff member, 
with more delivery options explored before the eventual C-section.  
 
Ms. Kern confirmed in cross-examination that she did not use a Doppler to listen to the fetal heart 
rate. She did not believe it was indicated, given that they were palpating the maternal heart rate 
and had two different heart rates. Ms. Kern confirmed that she did not chart the conversations 
with Dr. Vetter about palpating the maternal heart rate or the discussion regarding the report from 
Ms. Nygaard during handover. Ms. Kern did not think it was possible for a deceased baby to 
create movement in the womb. 
 
Ms. Kern stated that at some point she thought the electronic fetal monitor machine was 
malfunctioning since it is not the best technology they have. They get false positives and false 
negatives. How well the baby is doing is not always reflected by the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip and they get artifacts. The TOCO often needs to be reset and interventions need to be taken. 
Ms. Kern has not seen a Doppler often used, except in cases of intermittent auscultation.  
 
Ms. Kern was asked to review the electronic monitoring strip during cross-examination and noted 
that she could not classify the electronic fetal monitoring strip based only on the information in the 
strip, since you need to be in the room to be able to categorize what the strips are saying. While 
Ms. Curran noted there were repetitive uncomplicated variable decelerations, making the 
electronic fetal monitoring strip atypical, Ms. Kern noted that they were not for more than 50 
percent of them and so it is not atypical. 
 
In response to a question from the Hearing Tribunal, Ms. Kern confirmed that she also heard the 
heart rate when Dr. Vetter found it using the Doppler. She estimated the time the Doppler to be 
used was 2053h, noting that Dr. Vetter arrived in the room at 2050h. 
 
 
SUBMISSIONS 
 
Submissions by Conduct Counsel: 
 
Conduct Counsel submitted that Allegations 1 and 2 against Ms. Nygaard were factually proven 
and constitute unprofessional conduct within the meaning of section 1(1)(pp)(ii) and (xii) of the 
HPA, including a contravention of the Code of Ethics, Practice Standards and Documentation 
Standards. Allegation 1 states Ms. Nygaard failed to recognize fetal/maternal distress, read fetal 
monitoring strips accurately, consult a physician about abnormal findings, palpate the maternal 
pulse adequately, and physically listen to the fetal heart rate on one or more occasion.  
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Ms. Curran's testimony and case review indicate abnormal/atypical fetal monitoring results during 
Ms. Nygaard's shift that Ms. Nygaard categorized as normal. Allegation 2 states Ms. Nygaard 
failed to adequately document atypical/abnormal findings in the records. Ms. Nygaard charted the 
fetal heart rate as normal throughout despite Ms. Curran's determination of abnormal results.  
 
A key issue is Ms. Nygaard’s failure to document abnormal monitoring results and discussions 
with physicians. Although Ms. Nygaard stated the physicians were informed of the coincidence 
alarms and that the fetal and maternal heart rates overlapped, the documentary evidence 
suggests otherwise as there is no documentation regarding the question marks and overlapping 
heart rates on the electronic monitoring strips. The saying "if you didn't document it, it didn't 
happen" was highlighted by Conduct Counsel.  
 
Conduct Counsel submitted the facts underlying the Allegations in the Notices to Attend were 
proven on a balance of probabilities for Ms. Nygaard. Conduct Counsel identified Code of Ethics 
Responsibilities A2, A3, A5, A6, A12, B1, B4, C5, D6, G1 and G3; Practice Standards: 1.2, 1.4, 
2.2, 2.4, 2.5, 2.7, 3.4, 4.2, 5.3, and 5.5; Documentation Standards: 1.1, 1.2 and 1.4. 
 
Submissions by the Labour Relations Officer for the Registrants: 
 
The LRO outlined the complainant,  version of events, stating that she had a previous C-
section and was under the care of Ms. Nygaard during labour.  alleged that Ms. Nygaard failed 
to read the electronic fetal monitoring strip appropriately, ignored her pain, and denied her 
requests for a C-section, resulting in a stillbirth. 
 
However, the LRO argued that  version contradicts the testimonies of other witnesses, 
including the  friend Ms. Mailloux, the Registrants, and Dr. Vetter. According to these 
witnesses,  had decided against a C-section from the outset and refused it multiple times, 
despite being offered. Ms. Nygaard provided appropriate care, accurately read the monitoring 
strip, and the patient did not exhibit severe pain or request a C-section.  
 
The LRO was critical of the testimony of Angela Curran, the Complaints Director’s nurse educator 
witness, arguing that her testimony should carry no weight as she was not qualified as an expert 
and made numerous errors in her interpretation of the electronic fetal monitoring strip. The LRO 
noted the following: Ms. Curran ignored what was really happening in the room at any specific 
time and the LRO noted this is the most basic element of interpreting a strip; Ms. Curren seemed 
to limit her interpretation of the electronic fetal monitoring strip to the fetal heart rate and the 
mother’s heart rate, ignoring what was happening on the rest of the printing; Ms. Curran stated 
that she interpreted the strip every 15 minutes when the documentary evidence shows it was 
every 10 minutes; Ms. Curran did not know how to read the strip whether the SpO2 was on the 
patient or not, where it is clearly stated; she noted that the SpO2 was the only way to read the 
maternal pulse, and that the TOCO cannot provide the maternal pulse, which through 
documentary evidence was shown to be incorrect; she believed the TOCO provides the intensity 
of the contractions, and this is incorrect. Further, Ms. Curran relied on the new guideline even 
though it was not yet in the Facility at the time of the incident.  
 
The LRO addressed the Allegations against the Ms. Nygaard, including failing to recognize 
maternal and fetal distress, inaccurately reading the monitoring strip, and not consulting the 
physician. The LRO argued that the evidence does not support these Allegations and submitted 
that Ms. Nygaard acted appropriately. 
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The LRO submitted that the Complaints Director failed to prove any of the Allegations on a 
balance of probabilities. She argued that the tragic outcome resulted from  decision not to 
have a C-section when offered, rather than any failure by Ms. Nygaard and that the physicians 
tried to accommodate the patient's wishes. 
 
HEARING TRIBUNAL DECISION 
 
The Hearing Tribunal carefully considered the evidence presented by the parties and the closing 
submissions. The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(b) and Allegation 2 were proven on a 
balance of probabilities. The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(b) and Allegation 2 
constituted unprofessional conduct under section 1(1)(pp)(i) and (ii) of the HPA.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(a), (c), (d) and (e) were not proven. Therefore, the 
Hearing Tribunal dismissed Allegation 1(a), (c), (d) and (e).  
 
 
HEARING TRIBUNAL FINDINGS AND REASONS 
 
Exhibits of Note  
 
While the Hearing Tribunal reviewed all exhibits, it noted some exhibits in particular.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal reviewed and considered the Partogram for September 21, 2022 (Exhibit 1, 
page 110).  The Labour and Birth Record Stage Two (Exhibit 1, page 112) shows the classification 
of “N” “normal” for the time from 1650h to 2045h and a notation that “new paper in monitor” at 
2045h. 
 
The Partogram also notes the patient’s pain as reported by  with the pain between 0 and 5 on 
the Partogram for Stage One (Exhibit 1, page 110) and between 3 and 5 on the Partogram for 
Stage Two (Labour and Birth Record) (Exhibit 1, page 112). 
 
The Hearing Tribunal reviewed and considered the electronic fetal monitoring strips, in particular 
the strip starting at 1700h and onward where the maternal heart rate and fetal heart rate overlap 
(Exhibit 1, page 378 and onward). The paper was changed in the monitor at 2047h (Exhibit 1, 
page 415). 
 
The Hearing Tribunal also reviewed and considered the Multidisciplinary Notes for each of Ms. 
Nygaard and Ms. Kern.  
 
Ms. Nygaard worked on September 21, 2022, from 0700h to 1925h. Exhibit 1, page 126 shows 
that at 1637h , “Dr. Vetter in to reassess fully dilated”. At 1748h, “Dr. Vetter discussing vacuum, 
patient agrees to same.” The vacuum attempts are documented at Exhibit 1, page 127 from 1748h 
to 1809h; again at 1845h to 1848h; and again from 1959h to 1903h. Ms. Nygaard’s 
Multidisciplinary Notes accord with the testimony of Ms. Nygaard and Dr. Vetter that Dr. Vetter 
was in the room and attempted multiple vacuum attempts in this timeframe. 
 
The Multidisciplinary Notes show that report was given by Ms. Nygaard to Ms. Kern at 1925h. Ms. 
Kern entered a late entry note at 0400h (Exhibit 1, page 127 and onward). Ms. Kern also made 
notes in the moment (Exhibit 1, pages 131 and 133). 
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The Hearing Tribunal also reviewed and considered the Alberta Classification System as noted 
in the Practice Support Document (Exhibit 1, page 448). 
 
Witness Testimony  
 
The Hearing Tribunal considered the credibility and reliability of each witness’s evidence. 
Credibility relates to whether the witness is telling the truth. Reliability relates to the witness’s 
ability to perceive and recall.  
 

 
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that  was relaying what she believed to have occurred.  has 
more knowledge than a lay person, being a Licensed Practical Nurse on the labour and delivery 
unit.  
 

 testified that she felt a band ripping or snapping around 1630h, that she asked for a C-section 
and that she was in and out of consciousness. Dr. Vetter’s evidence was that it was only the next 
day that  reported to her that she had felt a band ripping. 
 
None of the Registrants, Dr. Vetter, Dr. DeVos or Ms. Mailloux confirmed the evidence of  that 
she was screaming and asking for a C-section. In fact, the evidence of the physicians and Ms. 
Mailloux was that  wanted a vaginal delivery, even when the option of a C-section was 
presented to her.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal also considered that the charting showed that when the patient was asked 
about her pain level, the charting does not reflect the evidence of  with the pain as rated by 
the patient between 0 and 5 on the Partogram for Stage One (Exhibit 1, page 110) and between 
3 and 5 on the Partogram for Stage Two (Labour and Birth Record) (Exhibit 1, page 112). The 
evidence by  that she was screaming in pain does not reflect the evidence given by other 
witnesses or the documentary evidence.  
 

 did not recall anyone taking her pulse, but that is contrary to the testimony of the Registrants 
and the physicians.  felt that Ms. Nygaard did not advocate for her, yet Ms. Nygaard was at 
her bedside for her entire shift. The charting shows that Ms. Nygaard was advocating for pain 
medication for her, asking Dr. Vetter to reassess and advising Dr. Vetter of the status. Dr. DeVos 
was in the room to provide pain medication and do “top ups” as necessary.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that while  was trying to tell the truth as she recalled the events 
that occurred, her testimony did not align with other witnesses or the charting in many respects. 
While the Hearing Tribunal did not find that  was trying to mislead them, less weight was placed 
on her evidence, given that there was not external consistency with other witnesses or the 
documentary evidence. 
 
Angela Curran 
 
Ms. Curran was asked to do a chart review for the case as part of an educational review at the 
Facility. She was given the entire chart for  and the charting for the baby. Ms. Curran used the 
Alberta classification system in the Fetal Health Surveillance Practice Support Document from the 
Maternal Newborn and Child Strategic Clinical Network dated August 2022 (Exhibit 1, Tab N), 
which was not in circulation at the time of the incident.  
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In addition, Ms. Curran acknowledged in her testimony that you do need to be in the patient room 
in order to understand the full clinical picture.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal also noted that Ms. Curran was not qualified as an expert. Although she 
was an educator who teaches the fetal heart surveillance course, she was not asked to provide 
any opinion regarding the standards expected of the Registrants having regard to what was 
actually occurring in the patient room. Her review and evidence was much more limited, focusing 
on the electronic fetal monitoring strips.  
 
Ms. Curran’s evidence was that from 1657h onward, there should have been recognition that the 
electronic fetal monitoring strip was not normal. Although Ms. Curran acknowledged that you need 
to know what is occurring in the room in order to fully understand the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip, her evidence was that where the electronic fetal monitoring strip is showing overlapping 
lines and coincidence alarms for this length of time, something more should have been done.   
 
The Hearing Tribunal also considered that Ms. Curran was mistaken in noting that the SpO2 was 
the only way to record the maternal heart rate on the electronic fetal monitoring strip. Exhibit 4 
confirms that the TOCO can record the maternal heart rate. She also did not appear to understand 
the notation on the strip that SpO2 with a question mark and a dash indicates that the SpO2 
monitor is not on the mother’s finger. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal found Ms. Curran to be a credible witness, but given the qualifications by 
Ms. Curran that you do need to be in the patient room to understand the full picture when 
interpreting the electronic fetal monitoring strips and the issue around the SpO2 monitor, as well 
as her use of a classification system that was not yet in circulation (the Fetal Health Surveillance 
Practice Support Document dated August 2022), limited weight was placed on her evidence and 
her case review.  
 
Dr. Vetter 
 
The Hearing Tribunal found Dr. Cheyanne Vetter somewhat cautious in her testimony but found 
her evidence both credible and reliable. 
 
Dr. Vetter gave evidence that confirmed the demeanour of  and did not support the evidence 
of  regarding maternal distress. Dr. Vetter testified that  did not scream about a  band ripping 
and only told Dr. Vetter she felt this the following day.  
 
Dr. Vetter also confirmed that the Registrants were palpating manually for a pulse. Dr. Vetter had 
multiple interactions with Ms. Nygaard and was in and out of the room several times. Dr. Vetter 
acknowledged progression of labour was slow.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal accepted her evidence that she gave  the option of a C-section. She 
acknowledged knowing that she did not have a great strip around 1700h and that while  was 
actively pushing, she mentioned the C-section again and gave her the choice of attempting a 
vacuum. After failed vacuum attempts, the patient asked for a second opinion. A decision was 
made and the operating room was prepared. The Hearing Tribunal noted that Dr. Vetter did not 
testify directly to hearing the fetal heart rate when she was asked to come back in the room. 
However, she was not asked directly about this in her testimony. Ms. Kern’s evidence was that at 
a point, she could not find a fetal heart rate and that Dr. Vetter came back to the room and found 
a heart rate briefly at around 2053h and then lost it again. A decision was made for a “stat” C-
section at that point. 
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The Hearing Tribunal considered that the physician is the most responsible health care 
practitioner and ultimately it is their call whether or not to proceed by C-section. While Dr. Vetter 
was asked to interpret the electronic fetal monitoring strips, the Hearing Tribunal placed limited 
weight on her assessment of the electronic fetal monitoring strips.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal placed significant weight on Dr. Vetter’s testimony that the Registrants were 
palpating the maternal pulse and advising her of the status. Dr. Vetter also confirmed that the 
Registrants were providing active nursing care to  throughout their shifts.  
 
Dr. DeVos 
 
Dr. Werner DeVos provided evidence about his role as anesthesiologist involved in  pain 
management. The Hearing Tribunal considered that Dr. DeVos did not report that  pain was 
“out of the norm” (was not unusual) for a patient in labour and delivery. His role became more 
active when he was asked for a second opinion.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal found Dr. DeVos to minimize his role in the events. His testimony focussed 
on his role as anesthesiologist. However, the Operative Report also shows that he was the 
surgeon who performed the C-section.  
 
However, Dr. DeVos did corroborate the testimony of the Registrants in that he was in the room 
several times on September 21. As the anesthesiologist, he was the expert in dealing with pain. 
He did not testify that  pain was “out of the norm” (was not unusual) for a labour and delivery 
patient. His evidence aligned with the Registrants’ testimony that  was not in distress and also 
supported that the Registrants were advocating for  
 

 
 
The Hearing Tribunal considered the evidence of  Similar to  the Hearing Tribunal found 
that  was giving testimony to the best of his recollection. However, the testimony was of limited 
reliability. While  testified that  was yelling out in pain, he felt that everything was normal. 
There was no evidence that in the moment, he thought something was wrong, which contradicts 

 evidence that she was screaming about a band ripping and that she wanted a C-section. His 
evidence was also that his wife was closing her eyes, but did not substantively corroborate that 
she was losing consciousness.  
 
Dianne Mailloux 
 
The Hearing Tribunal considered the evidence of Dianne Mailloux. Her evidence confirmed that 
there was someone in the room at all times. The Hearing Tribunal considered that Ms. Mailloux 
was a friend, but also a Registered Nurse with many years of experience, including being charge 
nurse on the labour and delivery unit.  
 
Ms. Mailloux did not recall any screaming. She noted that  was adamant to have a vaginal 
delivery. Ms. Mailloux did not testify that  was in a lot of distress and in fact she testified that 
they were “visiting” while she was covering Ms. Nygaard’s break and that  was excited. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal placed little weight on the reliability of the clinical information from Ms. 
Mailloux, noting that she did not know what a coincidence alarm (question mark) was on the 
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electronic fetal monitoring strip. The Hearing Tribunal was concerned that a charge nurse 
covering breaks in labour and delivery would not be aware of what a coincidence alarm was. 
 
Chantel Nygaard 
 
The Hearing Tribunal generally found Ms. Nygaard to be a credible and reliable witness. She 
gave her evidence in a direct manner and was not evasive in her answers.  
 
Ms. Nygaard had five years’ experience at the time of the incident. She gave evidence that you 
need to be in the room to understand what the monitors are saying. She recognized the need for 
manual palpation of the mother, which was corroborated by the two physicians in the room (Dr. 
Vetter and Dr. DeVos). Her evidence regarding the manual palpations was credible and supported 
by the evidence of other witnesses. 
 
Ms. Nygaard’s evidence diverged from Ms. Mailloux’s regarding whether Ms. Mailloux was 
present. According to Ms. Nygaard’s evidence, after her last break, Ms. Mailloux stayed in the 
room.  
 
Ms. Nygaard was very confident in her evidence of what occurred during her shift. She understood 
that decelerations during the trial pushes could be a sign of fetal distress and made Dr. Vetter 
aware of these with Dr. Vetter taking action and getting  ready for delivery.  
 
Ms. Nygaard also understood that the electronic fetal monitoring strips were not normal and took 
steps such as manually palpating the mother’s pulse and the mother’s abdomen to assess the 
contractions.  
 
Kelsey Kern 
 
The Hearing Tribunal general found Ms. Kern to be a credible and reliable witness. She had five 
years’ experience as a nurse in labour and delivery at the time of the events.  
 
Ms. Kern demonstrated during the hearing that she knew how to read the electronic fetal 
monitoring strips. She had received report at the patient’s bedside from Ms. Nygaard who reported 
there had been decelerations throughout the day and that they had been watching and they came 
back to normal; that there had been vacuum attempts; that the patient really wanted a successful 
vaginal birth; that there were coincidence alarms and that the two heart rates looked similar on 
the strip but that the physician was aware and they had been manually palpating the maternal 
pulse to make sure they had two patients. Dr. Vetter was at the foot of the bed and Ms. Kern 
confirmed this with her. Ms. Kern also noted that the coincidence alarms occurred on her shift.  
 
However, the Hearing Tribunal noted that Ms. Kern’s evidence was less clear in terms of some of 
the events during her shift caring for patient  For example, there was a period of time when 
the machine ran out of paper and needed to be replaced to capture ongoing electronic readings. 
This was not thoroughly explained in her testimony. After the paper in the electronic fetal monitor 
was changed, Ms. Kern noticed the electronic fetal monitoring strip was very different. Ms. Kern 
did not change the machine to see if it was malfunctioning, just the paper. She wrote on the strip 
that Dr. Vetter in to assess (Exhibit 1, page 416). Ms. Kern testified that at 2053h, Dr. Vetter found 
a fetal heart rate but that it was lost again. In addition, Ms. Kern did not give detailed evidence 
about what occurred between 2053h and 2109h when it was charted that  went to the operating 
room.  
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Allegation 1(a) On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant demonstrated a lack of 

knowledge, skill and/or judgment when they did one or more of the 

following: failed to recognize fetal and/or maternal distress on one (1) or 

more occasion 

The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(a) was not proven. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal considered whether it was proven that there was a failure by Ms. Nygaard 
to recognize maternal distress. The Hearing Tribunal recognized that a patient will be in distress 
during labour and delivery. However, there was insufficient evidence to support that there was 
maternal distress experienced by  which was out of the ordinary.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal considered the evidence of  and  regarding  screaming. However, 
given the evidence of the other witnesses, in particular Dr. DeVos and Dr. Vetter, the Hearing 
Tribunal found that Ms. Nygaard took appropriate steps to address maternal discomfort during 
labour, including distress from the labour. In addition, the evidence of Ms. Nygaard, the physicians 
and Ms. Mailloux was that  was not in distress. 
 
The evidence showed that Ms. Nygaard monitored  throughout her shift and took steps to 
obtain pain control and to appropriately manage the patient. The Hearing Tribunal found that 
based on the evidence of Ms. Nygaard, Dr. DeVos and Dr. Vetter, Ms. Nygaard recognized 
maternal discomfort or distress when it occurred, and took appropriate steps, including 
repositioning the patient, advising the physicians to get pain control and using the epidural bolus.  
 
Conduct Counsel stated in closing submissions that Ms. Nygaard failed to recognize that  was 
tachycardic based on the electronic fetal monitoring strips on multiple occasions. The Hearing 
Tribunal found that, while some of the strips could be interpreted as  being tachycardic, given 
the evidence from various witnesses that one needs to be in the patient room to know what is 
happening and given the maternal pulse palpated and documented by Ms. Nygaard which was 
not tachycardic (Exhibit 1, page 112), it was not established on a balance of probabilities that  
was tachycardic or that Ms. Nygaard failed to recognize that  was tachycardic.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal next considered whether it was proven that Ms. Nygaard failed to recognize 
fetal distress. Ms. Nygaard recognized that there might be fetal distress. She noted the 
decelerations but felt that they recovered. She was aware of the overlapping lines on the 
electronic fetal monitoring strips and advised the physicians, in particular Dr. Vetter of this. Ms. 
Nygaard palpated for the maternal pulse to confirm there were two different heart rates. The 
Hearing Tribunal found that the allegation that Ms. Nygaard failed to recognize fetal distress was 
not proven. 
 
There is some overlap regarding the issue of fetal distress and the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip. However, the issue of whether or not Ms. Nygaard read the electronic fetal monitoring strip 
accurately is addressed in 1(b). 
 
Allegation 1(b) On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant demonstrated a lack of 

knowledge, skill and/or judgment when they did one or more of the 

following: failed to read an electronic fetal monitoring strip accurately on 

one (1) or more occasion 

 
The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(b) was proven. 
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The Hearing Tribunal considered that it would have been helpful to have an expert qualified to 
provide expert evidence regarding electronic fetal monitoring strips. It would also have been 
helpful to have a more specific timeline provided. The Hearing Tribunal spent a great deal of time 
in its deliberations recreating a timeline of events.  
 
In addition, the file review by Ms. Curran, while helpful, did not address the facts of the case, in 
terms of the medical professionals in the room, what was occurring in the room in addition to the 
electronic fetal monitoring strip or the standard expected of a registrant given the circumstances 
occurring in the patient room. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that when considering the evidence as a whole, including the Exhibits 
and witness testimony, it was proven that Ms. Nygaard failed to read the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip accurately on one or more occasion. The electronic fetal monitoring strip had overlapping 
lines and coincidence alarms for a significant period of time. The Hearing Tribunal found that Ms. 
Nygaard recognized that there may be fetal distress. She took steps such as palpating  
maternal pulse and advising the physician. However, she recorded in her notes that the electronic 
fetal monitoring strip was “normal” on several occasions (Exhibit 1, page 112). 
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that documenting the electronic fetal monitoring strips as “normal” 
despite the overlapping lines and coincidence alarms for a lengthy period of time and the failure 
to take additional steps to determine if the electronic fetal monitor was working appropriately 
demonstrates a failure to read the electronic fetal monitoring strip accurately.   
 
Additional steps could have been taken to determine if the electronic fetal monitor was working 
appropriately. There was testimony that the monitors do not always function properly and that it 
is not the best technology. For example, the machine could have been changed if it was thought 
that the machine may not be functioning properly or the fetal heart rate could have been assessed 
using a handheld Doppler monitor. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal noted that the medical professionals who provided testimony, including Ms. 
Curran, noted that one needs to be in the room to fully understand the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip.  
 
However, Ms. Nygaard noted on the electronic fetal monitoring strip that it was normal (by noting 
“N”) (Exhibit 1, page 110). The electronic fetal monitoring strip was not normal. Even considering 
all the factors occurring in the room, including that  was pushing, that there were vacuum 
attempts and administration of medication, the Hearing Tribunal found that the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip was not normal.  
  
During Ms. Nygaard’s shift, the electronic fetal monitoring strip had overlapping lines for the fetal 
and maternal heart and coincidence alarms for a lengthy period of time. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that the Code of Ethics was not engaged for this Allegation.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal noted the following Standards of Practice: 
 

1.4  The nurse practices competently. 

2.7  The nurse applies nursing knowledge and skill in providing safe, competent, ethical 
care and service. 
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Ms. Nygaard did not practice competently or apply nursing knowledge and skill in a competent 
manner in how she read and classified the electronic fetal monitoring strips in light of the 
prolonged overlapping lines and coincidence alarms. The Hearing Tribunal found that the 
breaches of these Standards were serious and constituted unprofessional conduct pursuant to 
section 1(1)(pp)(ii) of the HPA.  
 
In addition, the Hearing Tribunal found that the conduct demonstrated a lack of skill or judgment 
in the provision of professional services. Ms. Nygaard would be expected to have recognized the 
concerns with the electronic fetal monitoring strip and that it was not a normal strip, even with 
everything that was happening in the room. Her failure to do so as evidenced by her 
documentation, even with the palpation of the maternal pulse demonstrated a lack of skill or 
judgment and is unprofessional conduct pursuant to section 1(1)(pp)(i) of the HPA.  
 
Allegation 1(c) On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant demonstrated a lack of 

knowledge, skill and/or judgment when they did one or more of the 

following: failed to confirm or consult with a physician on atypical and/or 

abnormal findings on the electronic fetal monitoring strip on one (1) or 

more occasion 

The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(c) was not proven. 
 
The evidence of Ms. Nygaard, Dr. Vetter and Dr. DeVos confirmed that Ms. Nygaard 
communicated with the physicians. There was evidence in the record of “Synto” increases 
following communications with the physician and that Dr. Vetter was in to reassess. Dr. DeVos 
as the anesthesiologist was involved in medication administration and so would have been 
advised by Ms. Nygaard of the patient’s status and needs.  
 
Most significantly, Dr. Vetter was at the foot of the bed for much of the time that there were 
overlapping lines on the electronic fetal monitoring strip during Ms. Nygaard’s shift. The Hearing 
Tribunal accepted the evidence of Ms. Nygaard that she was communicating with Dr. Vetter on a 
consistent basis regarding the overlapping lines, the coincidence alarms and that she was 
manually palpating for a pulse. Dr. Vetter’s evidence confirmed this.  
 
Allegation 1(d) On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant demonstrated a lack of 

knowledge, skill and/or judgment when they did one or more of the 

following: failed to palpate the maternal pulse and/or adequately palpate 

the maternal pulse on one (1) or more occasion 

The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(d) was not proven. 
 
The evidence was clear that Ms. Nygaard did manually palpate for the maternal pulse on several 
occasions. Ms. Nygaard testified to this and Dr. Vetter’s testimony confirms that Ms. Nygaard was 
palpating the maternal pulse. The Patient Chart also reflects this (Exhibit 1, page 111). There was 
no suggestion that Ms. Nygaard charted something she did not do and the Hearing Tribunal 
accepted the evidence regarding Ms. Nygaard manually palpating the pulse. 
 
The Complaints Director did not demonstrate a failure of Ms. Nygaard to manually palpate for the 
pulse. The Hearing Tribunal further noted that no information was provided to assist the Hearing 
Tribunal in establishing what time it is alleged that the maternal pulse was not palpated or not 
palpated properly.   
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In addition, while Conduct Counsel suggested generally that Ms. Nygaard did not palpate 
appropriately, suggesting that Ms. Nygaard was not competent in how she took the maternal 
radial pulse, there was no evidence to support this argument. It was suggested in closing 
submissions that  was tachycardic, but as noted above, this was not proven on a balance of 
probabilities.  
 
Allegation 1(d) appeared to be based on an assumption that the electronic fetal monitoring strip 
had to be reflecting the mother’s heart rate. However, the Hearing Tribunal noted that taking a 
patient’s radial pulse is a basic skill and there was no evidence provided to show that Ms. Nygaard 
did not take the patient pulse correctly. In addition, Ms. Kern who took over from Ms. Nygaard 
following her shift, palpated for the maternal pulse and obtained results consistent with Ms. 
Nygaard. The Hearing Tribunal considered that it was very unlikely that two registered nurses 
would fail in the basic skill of palpating the maternal pulse. 
 
Allegation 1(e) On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant demonstrated a lack of 

knowledge, skill and/or judgment when they did one or more of the 

following: failed to physically listen to the fetal heart rate to aid in the 

interpretation of an electronic fetal monitor strip on one (1) or more 

occasion 

The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(e) was not proven. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that Allegation 1(e) was not proven. Conduct Counsel did not point 
to any circumstance that would require listening to the fetal heart rate in a policy or in a standard 
expected of a nurse. Again, without expert evidence provided as to what would be expected of a 
prudent nurse in the circumstances of this case, the Hearing Tribunal was not in a position to find 
that there was a requirement for Ms. Nygaard to physically listen to the fetal heart rate using a 
handheld device such as a Doppler or that she failed to meet an expected standard or policy. 
 
While Ms. Mailloux stated that she would have used a Doppler to check for the fetal heart rate, 
the Hearing Tribunal placed limited weight on her evidence as noted previously. In addition, Ms. 
Mailloux is not an expert witness who can speak to the standard expected of a nurse on a labour 
and delivery unit. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal noted in Allegation 1(b), that in failing to properly read the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip and classifying it as a “normal” strip despite the overlapping lines for a significant 
period of time, that one option would have been to confirm the electronic fetal monitoring strip by 
use of a handheld Doppler. However, the Hearing Tribunal does not view that this supports a 
separate particular in Allegation 1(e), as there is no policy or standard identified that imposes 
such a requirement.  
 
Allegation 2   On or around September 21, 2022, the Registrant displayed a lack of skill 

and/or judgment when they failed to adequately and/or accurately 

document atypical and/or abnormal findings in the labour and birth record 

and/or multidisciplinary notes on one (1) or more occasion 

The Hearing Tribunal found Allegation 2 is proven.  
 
Ms. Nygaard noted that there were coincidence alarms, that the lines on the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip were overlapping and that she had multiple conversations with Dr. Vetter and Dr. 
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DeVos about these issues. However, she did not document her observations or her 
conversations.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal considered whether, if the electronic fetal monitoring strip is showing 
overlapping lines and coincidence alarms, a registrant must still document that it is atypical or 
abnormal. The Hearing Tribunal found that Ms. Nygaard, who knew that the electronic fetal 
monitoring strip had overlapping heart rate lines for a prolonged period of time and ongoing 
coincidence alarms, should have explained in her documentation the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip and the actions she was taking to confirm the health of the fetus, which would include the 
recognition of the overlapping lines, the coincidence alarms and the conversations she was 
having with the physicians. 
 
Ms. Nygaard charted throughout her shift and while her charting was appropriate in many 
respects, there were significant components not documented. She did not chart anything 
regarding the overlapping lines or coincidence alarms on the electronic fetal monitoring strips. 
The Hearing Tribunal finds that Ms. Nygaard should have charted something about the 
overlapping lines and coincidence alarms, either in the Multidisciplinary Notes or on the 
Partogram. The Hearing Tribunal also noted that the Labour and Birth Record has a section 
(section 14) to chart times for physician notification (Exhibit 1, page 112). Ms. Nygaard charted 
that the electronic fetal monitoring strip was normal, (N) in the partogram, which it was not.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal considered that Ms. Nygaard failed to document one of the most important 
things happening in the patient room. Ms. Nygaard documented the electronic fetal monitoring 
strip as “normal”, failed to document the overlapping lines, the coincidence alarms and the pulse 
checks in the Multidisciplinary Notes. In addition, Ms. Nygaard failed to document the 
conversations with the physicians and the time of such conversations in the Labour and Birth 
Record or the Multidisciplinary Notes.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal found that the Code of Ethics was not engaged for this Allegation. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal noted the following Standards of Practice: 
 

1.2 The nurse follows current legislation, standards and policies relevant to their 

practice setting. 

1.4  The nurse practices competently. 

2.4 The nurse exercises reasonable judgment and sets justifiable priorities in practice. 

2.5 The nurse documents timely, accurate reports of data collection, interpretation, 
planning, implementation and evaluation of nursing practice. 

2.7  The nurse applies nursing knowledge and skill in providing safe, competent, ethical 
care and service. 

The Hearing Tribunal considered the following Documentation Standards 
 

1.1 Record a complete account of nursing assessment of the client’s needs, 
including: 

a. identified issues and concerns 
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b. assessment findings 

e. intervention(s) provided 

1.2 Document the following aspects of care: 

a. relevant objective information related to client care 

b. the time when assessments and interventions were completed 

c. follow-up of client assessments, observations or interventions that have 
been completed 

1.4 Record: 

b. accurately, completely and objectively 

j. communication with other care providers, including name and outcomes 
of discussion 

Documentation is a basic and fundamental skill for Registered Nurses. Appropriate 
documentation is essential in producing a record of what is occurring which ensures patient safety 
and continuity of care. This includes but is not limited to accurate documentation of patient 
assessments, assessments of all monitoring equipment, important verbal interactions with vital 
team members and any or all of the advocacy done for the patients during care. In this case, Ms. 
Nygaard failed to appropriately document the interpretation of the monitoring equipment (the 
strips) and the conversations with team members, primarily the physicians. The Hearing Tribunal 
found that the breaches of these Standards were sufficiently serious to constitute unprofessional 
conduct pursuant to section 1(1)(pp)(ii) of the HPA. 
 
In addition, the Hearing Tribunal found that the conduct demonstrated a lack of skill or judgment 
in the provision of professional services. Ms. Nygaard should have documented the concerns with 
the electronic fetal monitoring strip and her conversations with the physicians. Ms. Nygaard noted 
that patient care in the labour and delivery unit takes precedence over charting. However, her 
documentation demonstrates that there was time to document or to ask the LPN to document. 
The Hearing Tribunal noted that Ms. Nygaard made a late entry, which is appropriate, but it was 
missing details of the conversations with the physicians which had occurred and the concerns 
with the electronic fetal monitoring strips. 
 
Ms. Nygaard’s decision to note the electronic fetal monitoring strip as “normal”, failing to document 
the coincidence alarms and the pulse checks in the Multidisciplinary Notes, the failure to 
document the conversations with the physicians and the time of such conversations in the Labour 
and Birth Record or the Multidisciplinary Notes demonstrated a lack of skill or judgment.  
 
Her failure to do so demonstrated a lack of skill or judgment and is unprofessional conduct 
pursuant to section 1(1)(pp)(i) of the HPA.  
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CONCLUSION 
 
The Hearing Tribunal finds that Allegation 1(b) and Allegation 2 are proven and constitute 
unprofessional conduct on the basis of section 1(1)(pp)(i) and (ii) of the HPA.  
 
The Hearing Tribunal finds Allegations 1(a), (c), (d), and (e) not proven. Allegation 1(a), (c), (d) 
and (e) are dismissed. 
 
The Hearing Tribunal will receive submissions from the parties on sanction. The Hearing Tribunal 
requests that the parties discuss and determine the timing and method of providing submissions 
on penalty to the Hearing Tribunal. If the parties are unable to agree on a proposed procedure 
and timing, the Hearing Tribunal will make further directions as required. 
 
 

 
____________________________ 
Kimberly Boyko, Chairperson 
On Behalf of the Hearing Tribunal 
 
Date of Order: September 9, 2025 
 




